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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

  
 

DEVIN SHIMKO,          

 

Plaintiff, OPINION AND ORDER 

v. 

     11-cv-831-wmc 

JEFF WAGNER TRUCKING, LLC, 

JEFFREY M. WAGNER, and 

HENRY A. WAGNER, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 

In this civil action for injunctive and monetary relief pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 

14704(a) and state common law, plaintiff Devin Shimko claims to have entered into a 

―lease agreement‖ with defendant Jeff Wagner Trucking, LLC (―JWT‖) in violation of 

―Truth-in-Leasing‖ regulations.  49 C.F.R. § 376.  Now before the court are defendants‘ 

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim (dkt. #9) and plaintiff‘s motion to strike 

defendants‘ reply brief or, in the alternative, for leave to file a surreply. (Dkt. #14).   

The court will grant defendants‘ motion.  Counts I, II and IV must be dismissed 

because Shimko has not alleged that JWT leased equipment from him to perform 

authorized transportation, and therefore, the Truth-in-Leasing regulations do not apply.  

The court will also dismiss Shimko‘s Count III for unjust enrichment, because Shimko 

has not identified any way in which JWT was enriched.  While the court will deny 

Shimko‘s motion to strike, it has considered both sides‘ arguments, including those on 

the merits contained in Shimko‘s brief in support of his motion to strike, which amounts 

to a surreply.    
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ALLEGATIONS OF FACT 

On December 26, 2007, Shimko and JWT entered into an agreement (Cpt., dkt. 

#1, ¶ 10) with two distinct parts: an ―Independent Contractor Driver Agreement‖ and an 

―Equipment Lease.‖ (Dkt. #6.)  In the driver portion of the agreement, Shimko agreed to 

―accept any reasonable dispatch of loads provided to him by the broker‖ and ―transport 

and move the same.‖  In return, JWT agreed to ―negotiate loads, including pick-up and 

delivery schedules‖ and ―provide license plates, permits and evidence of authority to 

transport goods.‖  Shimko would receive 90% of the shipment payment less deductions 

for expenses and permit fees.  Although the driver agreement refers to JWT as a ―broker,‖ 

the Federal Motor Safety Administration has authorized JWT only to operate as a 

―motor carrier.‖1  

The ―Equipment Lease‖ provided that JWT would lease a 2000 Peterbilt #16 and 

a 2000 Utility Trailer 48FT #116 to Shimko for 104 weekly payments of $472.04.  At 

the end of the lease term, Shimko had the option to purchase the truck and trailer for 

$10.00 each.  The lease provided that JWT ―shall be deemed to have retained title to the 

equipment at all times.‖  The lease allocated the parties‘ responsibilities for maintenance, 

damage and insurance, but placed no conditions on Shimko‘s use of the equipment.   

Shimko assumed all risk of damage to the equipment and all liability for injury to persons 

caused by the use of the equipment and to indemnify JWT for all such damage or 

liability.  Both the driver portion of the agreement and the equipment lease portion 

include integration clauses.  

                                                           
1 Defendants have assumed for purposes of this motion that Jeff Wagner Trucking is an 

authorized carrier.  (Dft.‘s Br. in Supp., dkt. #10, at 4.)   
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Defendants Jeffrey and Henry Wagner negotiated the agreement for JWT and 

―exercised authority‖ over Shimko consistent with the terms of the driver agreement.  

Jeffrey Wagner directed where Shimko‘s equipment would be serviced, explained which 

loads he would take and reminded Shimko that he was not allowed to refuse a load.  As 

the accountant and business manager, Henry Wagner controlled payments made to 

Shimko.  Defendants terminated the equipment lease without refunding Shimko‘s 

security deposit or returning payments made under the lease.  

 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY SCHEME 

Motor carriers must register with the Department of Transportation to ship most 

types of cargo in interstate commerce.  49 U.S.C. §§ 13901, 13902.  When an authorized 

motor carrier ―uses motor vehicles not owned by it to transport property under an 

arrangement with another party,‖ the Secretary of Transportation may require it to, 

among other things, ―have control of and be responsible for operating those motor 

vehicles in compliance with requirements prescribed by the Secretary on safety of 

operations and equipment, and with other applicable law as if the motor vehicles were 

owned by the motor carrier.‖ 49 U.S.C. § 14102(a)(4).  Under this statute, the Secretary 

also has authority to issue regulations governing the lease of vehicles between authorized 

carriers and owners-operators.  American Trucking Ass'ns v. U.S., 344 U.S. 298, 309-12 

(1953).  ―Owner-operators‖ are trucker drivers who own their trucks and lease them to 

shippers or authorized carriers.   
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This regulatory scheme serves two purposes.  First, it clarifies the responsibilities 

of authorized carriers and drivers, thereby preventing carriers from using informal leases 

with owner-operators to avoid safety regulations and financial responsibility for injuries 

to third-parties.  Id. at 303-08; Transamerican Freight Lines, Inc. v. Brada Miller Freight Sys., 

Inc., 423 U.S. 28 (1975).  Second, the regulations protect owners-operators by requiring 

carriers to enter written leases with certain mandatory terms.  In re Arctic Exp. Inc., 636 

F.3d 781, 796 (6th Cir. 2011).   

As to the latter concern, Congress conducted hearings into abuses suffered by 

interstate truckers after a strike by independent truckers in 1973, and the Interstate 

Commerce Commission (―ICC‖) promulgated the Truth-in-Leasing the regulations.  Id. 

The ICC‘s stated purposes for these regulations were to  

(1) to simplify existing and new regulations and to write them 

in understandable English; (2) to promote truth-in-leasing—a 

full disclosure between the carrier and the owner-operator of 

the elements, obligations, and benefits of leasing contracts 

signed by both parties; (3) to eliminate or reduce 

opportunities for skimming and other illegal or inequitable 

practices; and (4) to promote the stability and economic 

welfare of the independent trucker segment of the motor 

carrier industry.  

Lease & Interchange of Vehicles, 131 M.C.C. 141 (I.C.C. 1979).   

The ―Truth-in-Leasing‖ regulations are currently codified at 49 C.F.R. § 376.  An 

―authorized carrier may perform authorized transportation in equipment it does not own 

only‖ if (a) it executes a lease that meets various requirements in 49 C.F.R. § 376.12, (b) 

transfers of possession are recorded with a receipt, (c) the equipment is identified as 

being in the service of the authorized carrier, and (d) for each trip, records of the 
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equipment‘s ownership and the trip details are maintained with the authorized carrier 

and with the equipment.  49 C.F.R. § 376.11.  The lease must be in writing and ―shall be 

made between the authorized carrier and the owner of the equipment.‖  49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(a).  Among other things, the leases must provide that the ―authorized carrier 

lessee shall have exclusive possession, control, and use of the equipment;‖ specify ―the 

time and date . . . on which the lease begins and ends‖ and the driver‘s compensation; 

allocate the parties‘ responsibilities for removing identification devices and paying fees 

for licensing, transportation, loading and unloading; and provide that the carrier shall 

assume all risks and fines for oversize or overweight trailers.  49 C.F.R. § 376.12(b)-(e).   

OPINION 

I. Motion to Dismiss 

Shimko pleads four causes of action:  (1) all defendants violated the Truth-in-

Leasing regulations, 49 C.F.R. § 376; (2) defendants Jeff Wagner and Henry violated 49 

C.F.R. § 390.13(B) by aiding and abetting JWT‘s violations of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12; (3) all 

defendants were unjustly enriched; and (4) all defendants breached the contract.  

Defendants move to dismiss all four counts on the grounds that each is premised on the 

false assumption that the Truth-in-Leasing regulations apply to the parties‘ agreements.  

In addition, they argue that Shimko cannot state a claim for unjust enrichment under 

Wisconsin law because the parties had a contract and that Jeff and Henry Wagner may 

not be held personally liable under Counts I and IV.  Shimko concedes that Counts I, II 

and IV rely on the Truth-in-Leasing regulations (dkt. #11 at 9), but identifies several 
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arguably independent facts to support its unjust enrichment claim.  Accordingly, the 

court will initially address the Truth-in-Leasing arguments collectively for all counts and 

then address the additional arguments as to Count III separately. 

 

 Counts I - IV:  Truth-in-Leasing A.

Defendants‘ primary argument is that the Truth-in-Leasing regulations do not 

apply to the parties‘ Independent Contractor Driver Agreement.  The parties frame this 

dispute as to whether Shimko or JWT owned the truck and trailer, because 49 U.S.C.A. § 

14102 authorizes the Secretary to regulate motor carrier contracts when the carrier ―uses 

motor vehicles not owned by it to transport property under an arrangement with another 

party.‖  Similarly, the Truth-in-Leasing regulations apply when an carrier ―performs 

authorized transportation in equipment it does not own.‖  49 C.F.R. § 376.11. 

Defendants argue that JWT was the owner of the equipment because it retained title to 

the truck and trailer, while Shimko argues that he is the owner because the lease gave 

him exclusive control over the truck and trailer.  

Ownership can be a slippery concept, often dependent on a specific definition and 

factual context.  Here, the authorizing statute -- 49 U.S.C. § 14102(a) – does not define 

ownership.  In the regulations, the Secretary defines an ―owner‖ as  

A person (1) to whom title to equipment has been issued, or 

(2) who, without title, has the right to exclusive use of 

equipment, or (3) who has lawful possession of equipment 

registered and licensed in any State in the name of that 

person. 
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49 C.F.R. § 376.2(d).2   

Paradoxically, Shimko and JWT each satisfy different clauses of this disjunctive 

definition.  JWT meets clause (1) because it retained title to the equipment, while 

Shimko meets clause (2) because he had an exclusive right to use the equipment.  

In their opening brief, defendants ignored this definition of ―owner‖ in § 376.2(d). 

After Shimko raised the issue, defendants argued in their reply brief that treating Shimko 

as an owner is inconsistent with the statutory language and the regulatory scheme.  

According to defendants, ownership is a precondition for the application of the statue 

and regulations, because the purpose of this regulatory scheme is to prevent a carrier 

from circumventing safety laws and its potential liability to third parties by using leased 

equipment that the carrier does not own.  Consequently, defendants argue, it make little 

sense to apply the regulations when a carrier ships goods using equipment it owns and 

leases to an independent contractor.   

Defendants‘ statutory interpretation is unpersuasive for multiple reasons.  First, 

the court owes deference to the reasonable definition of ―owner‖ adopted by the 

Secretary in the regulations. Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. NRDC, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843-44 

                                                           
2 The court uncovered two other federal laws with similar purposes that define ―owner,‖ 

both of which are consistent with the Secretary‘s definition in § 376.2(d).  In a law 

allocating liability for maritime shipping, ―the term ‗owner‘ includes a charterer that 

mans, supplies, and navigates a vessel at the charterer's own expense or by the charterer's 

own procurement.‖ 46 U.S.C. § 30501. In a law allocating liability for injuries caused by 

rented motor vehicles, ―the term ‗owner‘ means a person who is -- (A) a record or 

beneficial owner, holder of title, lessor, or lessee of a motor vehicle; (B) entitled to the 

use and possession of a motor vehicle subject to a security interest in another person; or 

(C) a lessor, lessee, or a bailee of a motor vehicle, in the trade or business of renting or 

leasing motor vehicles, having the use or possession thereof, under a lease, bailment, or 

otherwise.‖ 49 U.S.C. § 30106. 



8 

 

(1984) (if agency has implicit rule-making authority, courts must uphold agency‘s 

reasonable interpretations).  Second, in addition to promoting safety, the Truth-in-

Leasing regulations are meant to protect independent contractor drivers from abusive 

practices by carriers.  Third, defendants cite no authority for their interpretation.  Finally 

several cases have held that a driver can be an ―owner‖ for purposes of the Truth-in-

Leasing regulations, even if the driver is merely leasing equipment from an authorized 

carrier or its affiliate.  E.g. Bonkowski v. Z Transp., Inc., Case No. 00-C-5396, 2004 WL 

524723 at *2 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 5, 2004); Owner-Operator Indep. Drivers Ass'n, Inc. v. Arctic 

Exp., Inc., 87 F. Supp. 2d 820, 827 (S.D. Ohio 2000); Dart Transit Company–Petition for 

Decl.Order, 9 I.C.C.2d 701, 1993 WL 220182 (June 28, 1993). See also Clarendon Nat. 

Ins. Co. v. Medina, 645 F.3d 928, 934-35 (7th Cir. 2011) (noting while interpreting 

Illinois law, for which federal regulations were instructive, that definition of ―owner‖ in § 

376.2(d)(2) ―vitiate[d] defendant‘s ‗non-owners cannot be lessors‘ theory‖).   

Because Shimko had exclusive right to use the truck and trailer, therefore, Shimko 

was an ―owner‖ of that equipment within the meaning of 49 U.S.C. § 14102(a) and 49 

C.F.R. § 376(d), just as were defendants, who retained title to the truck and trailer.  Not 

surprisingly, dual ownership for purposes of the Truth-in-Leasing regulations tells us little 

about whether the regulations apply to the parties‘ agreement.  In fact, the dispute about 

the meaning of ―owner‖ obscures the real problem raised by defendants‘ argument:  JWT, 

as the authorized carrier, did not lease any equipment from Shimko.  Instead, Shimko 

agreed to lease the equipment and to transport any reasonable loads provided by JWT.  

Nothing in the Independent Contractor Driver Agreement states that Shimko will lease 
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the truck back to JWT.  Technically, the contract does not even state what equipment 

Shimko will use to fulfill the orders from JWT.   

In contrast, the independent contractor agreements at issue in Bonkowski, 2004 

WL 524723 at *1-2, Arctic Express, 87 F. Supp. 2d at 822, and Dart Transit, 9 I.C.C.2d at 

702, contained lease-back provisions.  The drivers leased their equipment from an 

authorized carrier or its non-carrier affiliate and then leased the equipment back to the 

carrier, along with their services as a driver.   

The importance of this distinction is found in the Truth-in-Leasing regulations 

themselves, which apply only when an owner leases equipment to a carrier.  The 

regulations define a ―lease‖ as an ―arrangement in which the owner grants the use of 

equipment, with or without driver, for a specified period to an authorized carrier for use in 

the regulation transportation of property.‖ 49 C.F.R. § 376.2(e) (emphasis added). 

Similarly, the ―lessor‖ is ―the party granting the use of equipment, with or without 

driver,‖ and the ―lessee‖ is ―the party acquiring the use of equipment with or without 

driver.‖ 49 C.F.R. § 376.2(f), (g).  The substantive provisions similarly assume that the 

owner leases its equipment to the carrier.  For instance, they state that ―the authorized 

carrier may perform authorized transportation in equipment it does not own‖ only if it 

has ―a written lease granting the use of the equipment.‖ 49 C.F.R. § 376.11(a). The lease 

must provide, among other things, that the ―authorized carrier lessee shall have exclusive 

possession, control and use of the equipment‖ and ―assumes complete responsibility for 

the operation of the equipment.‖  49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c).   
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  In the Independent Contractor Driver Agreement, JWT does not agree to lease 

any equipment owned by Shimko.  Purporting to be a ―broker,‖ JWT hired Shimko as an 

independent contractor to transport its loads.  Undoubtedly, the parties‘ expected 

Shimko to use the truck and trailer over which he had exclusive control pursuant to the 

equipment lease to transport the goods, but the parties agreement contains no terms and 

the complaint contains no allegations about their expectations, negotiations or practices 

with respect to use of the equipment.  Shimko hints that JWT‘s purported arrangement 

as a ―broker‖ conflicts with its status as an ―authorized carrier,‖ but Shimko has 

identified no pertinent statutes or regulations that would void the contract or require 

reformation on that basis.   

Because Shimko has not alleged that he leased equipment back to JWT (or any 

basis to reform the contract), he has not alleged facts that would establish a violation of 

the Truth-in-Leasing regulations.  Accordingly, the court will grant defendants‘ motion to 

dismiss Counts I, II and IV of the complaint, which Shimko concedes rely on violations 

of the Truth-in-Leasing regulations.  Given the real possibility that JWT‘s lease and 

driver agreement may violate (or at least frustrate the purposes of) those regulations, this 

dismissal will be without prejudice to Shimko amending his complaint to address its 

deficiencies.   

 

 Count III: Unjust Enrichment B.

In the complaint, Count III appears to rely on violations of the Truth-in-Leasing 

regulations as a basis for a claim of unjust enrichment.  In his brief, however, Shimko 
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identifies several, other alleged bases for his unjust enrichment claim that would appear 

to be independent of any claimed violation of the regulations.  In the alternative, 

defendants argue that Count III must be dismissed because (1) Shimko fails to allege 

how defendants were unjustly enriched; and (2) the parties‘ contracts preclude a separate, 

common law claim for unjust enrichment.  

 Under Wisconsin law, a claim for unjust enrichment has three elements: ―(1) a 

benefit conferred on the defendant by the plaintiff, (2) appreciation or knowledge by the 

defendant of the benefit, and (3) acceptance or retention of the benefit by the defendant 

under circumstances making it inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without 

payment of its value.‖  Puttkammer v. Minth, 83 Wis. 2d 686, 689, 266 N.W.2d 361, 

363 (1978).  As a general rule, a plaintiff cannot maintain a claim for unjust enrichment 

when the parties have an express contract.  Continental Casualty Co. v. Wis. Patients Comp. 

Fund, 164 Wis. 2d 110, 118, 473 N.W.2d 584 (Wis. Ct. App. 1991);3 Grossbier v. 

Chicago, St. P., M. & O. Ry. Co., 173 Wis. 503, 181 N.W. 746, 748 (1921) (unjust 

enrichment applies ―in the absence of any agreement‖).   

This general rule simply respects the parties‘ advance, dispassionate agreement as 

to the proper outcome, recognizing that there is no unfairness in a party retaining agreed 

upon compensation in exchange for contemplated value, even if that exchange looks 

unfair with hindsight.  Beer Capitol Distrib., Inc. v. Guinness Bass Imp. Co., 290 F.3d 877, 

                                                           
3 Although Continental Casualty Co. framed this as a categorical rule, the Wisconsin Court 

of Appeals held in an unpublished decision that a contractor could recover under a theory 

of unjust enrichment for work performed ―in addition to that contracted for under a 

contractual theory.‖  Welton Ventures Ltd. Partnership v. Project Coordinators, Inc., 2006 WL 

1277095, at *9 (Wis. Ct. App. 2006) (unpublished decision).  
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880-81 (7th Cir. 2002).  Still, a party may not be barred from seeking equitable relief if 

the benefits conferred fall outside the scope of the parties‘ contractual relationship.  N. 

Crossarm Co., Inc. v. Chemical Specialties, Inc., 318 F. Supp. 2d 752, 766 (W.D. Wis. 2004) 

(citing Kramer v. Alpine Valley Resort, 108 Wis. 2d 417, 425-26, 321 N.W.2d 293 (1982) 

(permitting claim for promissory estoppel despite express contract)).   

Here, plaintiff alleges that he conferred a benefit on defendants independent of 

that contemplated by contract by allowing them to (1) instruct him to perform work 

outside the scope of the lease agreement, (2) direct what loads he would carry, (3) tell 

him he was not allowed to refuse loads, and (4) direct where he could obtain services.  

The first allegation obviously falls outside the scope of the agreement by its terms, but 

amounts to nothing more than a bare legal conclusion, not a factual basis for 

compensation.  The second and third allegations cannot support a claim for unjust 

enrichment, because they obviously fall within the subject matter of parties‘ driver 

agreement, which provides that ―[Shimko] will . . . accept any reasonable dispatch of 

loads provided to him by [JWT].‖  (Dkt. #6, § 2.)  And the fourth alleged benefit falls 

within the subject matter covered by the equipment lease, which includes a provision 

specifying that Shimko shall bear the costs of maintenance and repair services.  (Id. at 4.)   

Even if this last direction falls outside the scope of the provision because it does 

not specify where Shimko may obtain services, Shimko does not allege how this direction 

conferred a benefit on defendants.  As with the first benefit, it also fails to state a factual 

basis for compensation.  Consequently, Shimko‘s claim for unjust enrichment will be 

dismissed for failure to state a claim. 
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II. Motion to Strike Defendants’ Reply Brief 

Plaintiff has filed a motion to strike defendants‘ reply brief, arguing that it raised 

new arguments about the interpretation of ―owner‖ under the regulations and statute.  

The arguments presented by defendant, however, were a direct response to plaintiff‘s 

response brief.  Moreover, the court has also considered the arguments on the merits 

contained in plaintiff‘s brief in support of this motion to strike, which amounts to a 

surreply.  Finally, the court found defendant‘s arguments about the definition of 

―ownership‖ to be unpersuasive.  Accordingly, the court will deny Shimko‘s motion to 

strike the reply brief (dkt. #9) while treating his supporting brief as his surreply. 

 ORDER  

 IT IS ORDERED that: 

1. The motion to dismiss filed by defendants Jeff Wagner Trucking, LLC, Jeffrey 

M. Wagner and Henry A. Wagner (dkt. #9) is GRANTED and plaintiff Devin 

Shimko‘s complaint is DISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE.  

2. Plaintiff Devin Shimko‘s motion to strike defendants‘ reply brief or, in the 

alternative, for leave to file a surreply (dkt. #14) is DENIED, although his 

supporting brief is considered and treated as a surreply.  

 Entered this 27th day of June, 2013. 

 

      BY THE COURT: 

      /s/ 

      __________________________________ 

      WILLIAM M. CONLEY 

      District Judge 


